SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

12/28/2022 12:12 PMSupreme Court No. 101573-9

BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK Court of Appeals No. 82790-I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARIANO ROMULO,

Appellant

v.

SEATTLE PUBLIC UTILITIES, a Department of the CITY OF SEATTLE, a municipality,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

John P. Sheridan, WSBA #21473 THE SHERIDAN LAW FIRM, P.S. Hoge Building, Suite 1200 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 381-5949

Attorneys for Appellant Mariano Romulo

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. In civil cases in which the plaintiff is a Black,
 Indigenous, or other Person of Color (BIPOC), may
 the Court of Appeals decide an issue without
 examining the conduct of the trial judge through the
 prism of race, when the judge makes a significant
 adverse ruling that is not supported by existing law?
- 2. At summary judgment may a plaintiff overcome dismissal of a hostile work environment claim by producing evidence that may also be evidence of retaliation that shows discriminatory intent?
- 3. In a wrongful discharge case, if requested by a party, is the court required to inform the jury of the public policies at issue?

- 4. Since the City Municipal Whistleblower ordinance leaves municipal whistleblowers without a hearing if the executive director finds no merit to the claim, should the whistleblower be permitted to take the case before a jury (as can other municipal whistleblowers to whom the executive director has found merit), which would allow the ordinance to survive review; otherwise, is not the ordinance contrary to the hearing requirement of RCW 42.41.040(4) and thus contrary to RCW 42.41.050?
- 5. Are PowerPoint slides used at trial in closing attorney work product? If so, should a trial judge be permitted to require a party to produce PowerPoint slides before closing to the other side without requiring the other side to produce their notes for closing?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Romulo accepts most of the facts as stated by the Court of Appeals, but recognizes that some of the statements are wrong or have been omitted.

A. Judge Parisien's Ruling on RCW 49.60.210 Claim.

Before the case was submitted to the jury on the issue of WLAD retaliation, the court considered Romulo's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 11 which referred to "any adverse action," allowing the factfinder to exercise discretion in determining whether the City retaliated against Romulo. CP 1986; RP 1836-37. In the alternative, he modified his proposed instruction to include illustrative examples tailored to this case: "an adverse action, including, but not limited to the failure to hire Mr. Romulo into the position formerly held by Ward Pavel, negative performance evaluations, discipline such as oral and written warnings, written reprimand, suspension, placement on paid administrative leave for 20 months, and/or termination." CP 2131; RP 1836-37. Following Hubbert's hiring, Romulo

experienced various adverse actions intertwined with the discrimination he experienced.

The court considered Romulo's arguments, CR 51(f), and declined to give either instruction, but instead gave Jury Instruction No. 11 limiting the WLAD retaliation claim to only one adverse action: termination. CP 2157. Romulo also offered the WPI definition of an adverse action, which the court also refused. CP 1988; RP 1836-37; WPI 330.06. In the court's view:

[T]he laundry list of adverse employment actions are important when you don't have an actual termination, which of course is the ultimate adverse employment action, and that many of the things alleged by the plaintiff were actually outside the statutory limitation period.

And the other items, the negative evaluation, the being placed on three days of suspension for failure to -- I think that was for failure -- I'm sorry -- it was chronic tardiness, that these are things that are all part of the ultimate lead up to his termination. And they're not in and of themselves separate cautions of action or the basis for a retaliation claim when the claim is he was fired.

So theoretically it could have -- we could have had every single thing that leads to a termination. The meeting on November 4th where he was advised he was going to be terminated, that's an adverse action. The failure, you know, the

writing of all these emails to folks that -- outside of the city, that's -- these are all -- from the testimony that the Court heard, these are all, you know, kind of part and parcel of the bundle of things that the city relied upon in making its determination. They are not separately actionable, and that is the basis for my ruling that the termination is the act of employment -- is the act of retaliation.

And the law with regard to adverse employment action really contemplates that many employees would take unfavorable actions against an employee but far short of termination. But here we have, frankly, the worst thing that an employer could do to an employee which is sever their relationship. So that's why I made the rulings that I did with regard to adverse employment action.

. . .

But again, my reasoning for not including them is because of how I view termination being the ultimate adverse employment action encapsulating all of these matters.

RP 1829-31. Jury Instruction No. 11 allowed the City to argue:

As the Court has instructed you, Mr. Romulo has two claims in this case and both of them refer to his termination -- refer only to his termination in 2019: Retaliation under the Washington law against discrimination and wrongful discharge in violation of public policy.

. . .

Mr. Romulo has presented you with no evidence of any kind to explain how or why any of these people would retaliate against Mr. Romulo for filing a lawsuit that none of them had anything to do with. Mr. Roberson's testimony was clear that not only was he not aware of Mr. Romulo's lawsuit at the time, he didn't even know who Mr. Romulo was. And remember, the Mr. Roberson that Mr. Romulo wants you to believe retaliated against him somehow is the same Mr. Roberson that wrote a favorable performance review for Mr. Romulo that we saw during his case.

In addition to that, after the reorganization in the summer of 2017, Mr. Roberson had no more involvement in management decisions relating to Mr. Romulo, including his termination. Mr. Romulo further admitted that neither Mr. Roberson nor Mr. Hubbert ever said anything to him about his prior lawsuit. There's simply no evidence that Mr. Romulo's termination had anything to do with his 2017 lawsuit -- or with his 2007 lawsuit and you should find for the city on Mr. Romulo's retaliation claim.

RP 1970-72. Next, the City continued:

As you've been instructed here the only thing at issue is Mr. Romulo's termination. Damages can't flow from anything other than his termination whether economic or emotional.

RP 1982.

B. Summary Judgment on Hostile Work Environment Claim.

Romulo presented evidence that Hubbert's conduct evinced a lack of respect for how Romulo communicated in English as a second language with an accent, RP 1075, 1084-87, Ex. 26 (raising issue of cultural competency), 215, 554; Hubbert limited Romulo's ability to act as President of FACES denying him leave to attend the FACES conference all day (an ethnic affinity group) RP 1076-79, 1101-04, Exs. 70, 104; and Hubbert limited Romulo's ability to perform his job in ways others were not similarly restricted, such as denying him trainings and limiting his ability to input data into XC2, RP 1140-41. Hubbert's treatment of Romulo stands in stark contrast with Pavel's treatment of him. RP 888-893, Ex. 50. Some of these facts apply to both the retaliation claim and to the hostile work environment claim.

C. Judge Parisian Denied Romulo's Request For A Jury Instruction That Addressed The Public Policies In His Wrongful Discharge Claim.

Romulo's Proposed Jury Instruction No. 17 referred to two public policies at issue:

Washington State law provides a clear expression of public policy to ensure that the public is provided safe and high-quality drinking water and that the water system is protected contamination resulting via cross-connections. The Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) provides a clear expression of public policy the overarching purpose of which is to deter and to eradicate discrimination in Washington. The WLAD is also a clear expression of public policy that it is an unfair practice for an employer to discriminate against any person because she has opposed practices forbidden by the WLAD.

CP 1993. Subsequently, Romulo added to his proposed instruction the remaining public policy at issue based on the WPC:

The Seattle Municipal Code provides a clear expression of public policy that it is improper for the government to engage in a gross waste of public funds or resources, which means to spend or use funds or resources, or to allow the use of any funds or resources, in a manner grossly deviating from the standard of care or competence that a reasonable person would observe in the same situation.

CP 2098. The court considered Romulo's arguments and declined to provide his proposed jury instruction. RP 1838; CR 51(f). Ill-advisedly, the court provided the pattern instruction WPI 330.50, Jury Instruction No. 14, that it is "unlawful to terminate an employee in retaliation for reporting employer misconduct." CP 2159. This weakened the importance of the claim.

D. The City Municipal Whistleblower Ordinance Left Romulo Without A Hearing Contrary To RCW 42.41.040(4) And Thus Contrary To RCW 42.41.050.

The City Municipal Whistleblower Ordinance limits the rights of whistleblowers who do not meet the sufficiency requirement of the ordinance. Mr. Romulo's whistleblower claim was denied at the executive director level, and without that approval he could not obtain a hearing or file a lawsuit.

-

¹ Based on the preliminary instruction Romulo proposed, RP 336, the court also provided Jury Instruction No. 2. CP 2148 ("Romulo alleges the city wrongfully discharged his employment in violation of public policies concerning the safety of the public water system ... The City denies these claims. These are the only claims that you are being asked to decide.").

E. PowerPoint Slides Used At Trial In Closing Are Attorney Work Product And Should Not Be Produced To The Other Side.

This case was tried over Zoom to a jury from March 1, 2021, to March 17, 2021. CP 2193. In advance of closing argument, the court required Romulo's counsel to reveal his strategic PowerPoint slides to the City, over his objection that slides are work product and his request to provide them in camera. RP 364-366; CP 2231, 2243; RP 1918 (the court gave the City an opportunity to review the closing argument slides and make objections to them).

V. ARGUMENT

A. Judge Parisian's Ruling Raises The Issue Of Racial Bias Directed Against Mr. Romulo By The Trial Court, Which Must Be Confronted. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).

"If racial bias is a factor in the decision of a judge or jury, that decision does not achieve substantial justice, and it must be reversed." *Henderson v. Thompson*, ___Wn.2d___, 518 P.3d 1011, 1016–17 (2022). The Court of Appeals failed to consider

the racial implications of Judge Parisien's ruling. In a footnote the Court of Appeals held that *Henderson v. Thompson* is inapplicable. *Id.* at *14. Henderson does apply. The "ultimate question for the court is whether an objective observer (one who is aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination, have influenced jury verdicts in Washington State) could view race as a factor in [Judge Parisien's ruling]." *Henderson v. Thompson*, 518 P.3d at 1017.

These facts shout loudly that an objective observer *could* conclude that racism was a factor in Judge Parisien's ruling. This head-on approach that examines the conduct of sitting judges may make some members of this Court uncomfortable, but if the Court cannot stand up for a Filipino employee who speaks with an accent, this Court will lose the respect of the powerless and gain the respect of the powerful, because we are now asking from this Court what the Court asked from us in the 2020 open letter.

Romulo asks that the case be analyzed under *Henderson*

and remanded to the trial court, but reassigned to a different judge so that Judge Parisien cannot impact the retrial. *Id.* at 1025 (on remand, Henderson's case should be reassigned to a different judge). The use of the *Henderson* analysis is critical in this case and in all such cases because it exposes racist behavior in the courthouse so that once identified this evil will stop.

B. At Summary Judgment Discrete Acts May Be Used to Prove the Second Element of Hostile Work Environment. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

At summary judgment, Romulo stated the elements of harassment and provided supporting evidence. *Antonius v. King Cty.*, 153 Wn.2d 256, 261, 103 P.3d 729 (2004) ("(1) the harassment was unwelcome, (2) the harassment was because [plaintiff was a member of a protected class], (3) the harassment affected the terms and conditions of employment, and (4) the harassment is imputable to the employer" (citing *Glasgow v. Ga–Pac. Corp.*, 103 Wn.2d 401, 406-07, 693 P.2d 708 (1985)); WPI 330.23. Courts look to the totality of the circumstances in assessing these elements. *Glasgow*, 103 Wn.2d at 406-07

(sufficiently pervasive to be determined through the totality of the circumstances).

The Court of Appeals mistakenly thought that dismissal is appropriate because, "Romulo points to no evidence that Hubbert ever mentioned Romulo's ethnicity." *Id.* at *16. This is a much higher bar than what is appropriate at summary judgment.

Under the totality of these circumstances, a reasonable jury could conclude that the treatment suffered by Romulo, based on discriminatory conduct executed within this environment and perpetrated by SPU managers, created a racially hostile work environment. The EEOC Compliance Manual § 2-IV(C)(1)(b) provides that "[a]n incident may be part of a hostile work environment even if it is also a discrete act."). Retaliation "is a form of 'discrimination' because the complainant is being subjected to differential treatment." *Jackson v. Birmingham Bd. of Educ.*, 544 U.S. 167, 174, 125 S. Ct. 1497, 161 L. Ed. 2d 361 (2005).

Under Washington law, this reasoning should apply here.

[The Washington Law Against Discrimination] deals separately with unlawful discrimination against an employee and unlawful discharge of an employee, [so]it is clear that each of these acts amounts to a different violation of the law against discrimination and gives rise to a separate cause of action under the statute. This would be true even if the claim for discrimination and the claim for discharge arose from the employer's same act.

Martini v. Boeing Co., 137 Wash. 2d 357, 366, 971 P.2d 45, 50 (1999). Following along with the EEOC Compliance Manual, the acts that support Romulo's retaliation claim under RCW 49.60.210 may also be used to support his hostile work environment claim under RCW 49.60.180. Much like Hubbert's conduct, which evinced a lack of respect for how Romulo communicated in English as a second language with an accent, or Hubbert's refusal to allow Romulo to attend a full day conference as President of FACES, an ethnic affinity group, amongst other examples. The Court should address this issue.

C. Judge Parisian Wrongly Denied Romulo's Request For A Jury Instruction That Addressed The Public Policies In His Wrongful Discharge Case. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Without the clear expression of public policy on the safety of the public water system properly instructed, the City argued at closing:

If Mr. Romulo believed, as a licensed cross-connection control specialist, if he truly believed that Mr. Hubbert's decision not to post form letters on customer property so that the USI group could work on cleaning up its data and focusing on high health hazard facilities that that was employer misconduct, there was nothing objectively reasonable about that belief. On this basis alone your verdict should be for the city on Mr. Romulo's public policy claim.

RP 1974. The City also described Romulo's claim as "veer[ing] deeper and deeper into a multilayer conspiracy." RP 1975. The City did not make any argument regarding the other public policies involved in Romulo's whistleblowing. There was prejudice. This issue should be reviewed.

D. The City Municipal Whistleblower Ordinance Leaves Municipal Whistleblowers Without A Hearing If The Executive Director Finds No Merit To The Claim, Which Is Contrary To The Hearing Requirement Of RCW 42.41.040(4) And Thus Contrary To RCW 42.41.050. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

"[O]ur whistle-blower statutes ... are intended to encourage those with knowledge of institutional wrongs to come forward in order to safeguard the public," and "[s]uch protection is based on, among other things, the commonsense notion that employers should abide by the law and the intrinsic importance of fairness and justice in protecting individuals trying to 'do the right thing." Karstetter v. King Cty. Corr. Guild, 193 Wn.2d 672, 685, 444 P.3d 1185 (2019). "The plain and unambiguous intent of the Local Government Whistleblower Protection Act [("LGWPA")] ... is to ... provide remedies for whistle-blowers subjected to retaliation for making such reports." City of Seattle v. Swanson, 193 Wn. App. 795, 811, 373 P.3d 342 (2016) (citing RCW 42.41.010).

Under the LGWPA, local government employees have a right to "a hearing to establish that a retaliatory action occurred

and to obtain appropriate relief." RCW 42.41.040(4). If the employee requests such a hearing, "the local government shall apply to the state office of administrative hearings for an adjudicative proceeding before an administrative law judge." RCW 42.41.040(5) (emphasis added). The legislature allowed local governments to implement state law, thereby exempting themselves from its reach, by adopting their own program "if the program meets the intent of this chapter." RCW 42.41.050; accord SMC 4.20.800(G) (stating that WPC's purposes include, "Adopt[ing] a whistleblower program to comply with RCW 42.41"). By providing a private cause of action in SMC 4.20.870, the Seattle City Council unequivocally intended for Romulo to sue in court for whistleblower retaliation.

The Court erroneously concluded the City's whistleblowers fail to state a claim as a matter of law for retaliation following an insufficiency determination by the Seattle Ethics and Elections Commission Executive Director ("SEEC ED"). The WPC provides for an internal administrative

hearing before the City Hearing Examiner that only the SEEC ED can elect to pursue under SMC 4.20.865(B) and provides for suit in state court that qualifying employees can elect to pursue under SMC 4.20.870(A). Following a timely and sufficient complaint, a City of Seattle employee whistleblower can sue, if the action is filed within twelve months and one of three conditions is met, including if "the Executive Director has completed an investigation and determined that no reasonable cause exists to believe that retaliation occurred." SMC 4.20.870(A)(2) (emphasis added); SMC 4.20.860(B)(3) (SEEC ED must treat allegations as "true"). Access to any remedy is contingent on the SEEC ED's sufficiency determination. SMC 4.20.865(B) (access to administrative remedies is contingent on SEEC ED exercising discretion following a reasonable cause finding). Under the court's interpretation, whenever the SEEC ED arbitrarily dismisses a whistleblower complaint, those unfortunate whistleblowers need to pursue their claims in an administrative forum rendered unavailable by the WPC (when

read in context) and the LGWPA's municipal exemption, RCW 42.41.050. This leaves the system open to abuse; just as in the public disclosure context, "leaving interpretation of the act to those at whom it was aimed would be the most direct course to its devitalization." *Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe*, 90 Wn.2d 123, 131, 580 P.2d 246 (1978). The SEEC ED describes a finding of insufficiency as "the end of the road." CP 251.

Under the LGWPA, to obtain a hearing before an administrative law judge, employees file nothing "in another forum," instead, they deliver a request for an administrative hearing directly with their employer. RCW 42.41.040(4); RCW 34.12.038 ("When requested by a local government, the chief administrative law judge shall assign an administrative law judge to conduct proceedings under chapter 42.41 RCW."). The WPC does not include a process to make a request for an administrative hearing before the administrative law judge like that allowed for by RCW 42.41.040(4), nor provide any process for review of the SEEC ED's decision. *State v. Tacoma-Pierce Ctv. Multiple*

Listing Serv., 95 Wn.2d 280, 284, 622 P.2d 1190 (1980) (requiring a "clearly defined machinery for the submission, evaluation and resolution of complaints by aggrieved parties.").

The LGWPA cannot exempt the City from the law under RCW 42.41.050 while simultaneously providing administrative remedies to City employees like Romulo. Romulo did not have notice of any alleged administrative remedies, and he could not appeal an adverse sufficiency finding in an administrative forum or otherwise. *Compare* SMC 4.20.860(B) (describing only a notice of "insufficiency"), *with* SMC 4.20.865(D)(4) (stating that for the final order of the Hearing Examiner, it "shall include a notice to the parties of the right to obtain judicial review of the order").

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