FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/26/2023 10:15 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 101573-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARIANO ROMULO,

Appellant,

v.

SEATTLE PUBLIC UTILITIES, a Department of the CITY OF SEATTLE, a municipality,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Washington Court of Appeals Case No. 82790-1-I

Ryan J. Groshong, WSBA # 44133 Daniel P. Hurley, WSBA # 32842 Ben Moore, WSBA # 55526 Monica A. Romero, WSBA # 58376

K&L GATES LLP 925 Fourth Avenue Suite 2900 Seattle, Washington 98104-1158 Telephone: (206) 623-7580 Attorneys for Respondent City of Seattle

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

In *Henderson*, this Court set forth a framework for trial courts to apply "when a civil litigant seeks a new trial on the

basis that racial bias affect[ed]" the verdict." 518 P.3d 1011 at 1023. Here, following the jury's unanimous verdict for the City, Romulo sought a new trial on a range of grounds, none of which alleged racial bias on the part of Judge Parisien. CP 2212-26 (arguing for a new trial because the trial court only identified "termination" as the adverse action central to the retaliation claim, declined to give Romulo's proposed jury instruction on public policies, gave the parties additional peremptory challenges, selected alternate jurors through a random draw of numbers, and required parties to exchange opening and closing PowerPoint slides).

Romulo had ample opportunity during trial proceedings and following the verdict to raise any issues regarding the trial court's alleged bias, and to give the trial court an opportunity to address any such concerns. Yet at no point during the pendency of this case prior to the issuance of the *Henderson* opinion did Romulo ever make such an allegation. On this basis alone, Romulo's claim for remand pursuant to *Henderson*

fails.

Moreover, even if he had properly preserved the issue (he did not), Romulo cannot show that an objective observer could find racial bias to have affected the verdict. Romulo's only evidence of Judge Parisien's purported racial bias is a ruling against him regarding a single jury instruction. But unfavorable rulings do not equal bias. In re Pers. Restraint of Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647, 692, 101 P.3d 1 (2004) (stating that judicial rulings alone almost never constitute a valid showing of bias because there is a "presumption that a trial judge properly discharged [her] official duties without bias or prejudice."); see also Benz v. Rashleigh, 72225-5-I, 72520-3-I, 2015 WL 4522626, at *4 (Wash. Ct. App. July 27, 2015) (unpublished) ("[A] trial judge's adverse ruling, without more, does not support the slightest inference of bias.").

Romulo fails to cite to any part of the record that could support any inference, much less any determination, that any action Judge Parisien took was motivated or influenced by racial bias. To the contrary, the trial record shows quite the opposite. For example, Judge Parisien made statements throughout trial regarding the importance of avoiding implicit bias, the value of the Washington Law Against Discrimination, and the significant need for juror diversity. See, e.g., RP 292:16-293:19; 394:2-11. Further, Judge Parisien even allowed Romulo to add to the jury (in place of another juror) an individual Romulo's counsel believed to be Filipino and who originally had been randomly selected to be an alternate juror. RP 376:21-379:23. In arguing for this result, Romulo's counsel claimed that "all of the Supreme Court case law, the general rules, they're all designed to put [this juror] on the panel." RP 376:21-379:23.

Accordingly, there is no evidence in the record even suggesting any impropriety or racial bias on the part of Judge Parisien, much less any evidence to conclude that an objective observer would view race as a factor in the jury's verdict in this case.

B. The Trial Court's Correct Dismissal of Romulo's Hostile Work Environment Claim is Consistent with this Court's Precedent and does not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Romulo claims, without any supporting authority, that the Court of Appeals held Romulo to "a much higher bar than what is appropriate at summary judgment." Petition at 22. To the contrary, both the trial court and Court of Appeals correctly applied longstanding precedent of this Court. In order to establish a prima facie case of hostile work environment based on race, Romulo was required to demonstrate, among other things, that any alleged harassment was "because of" a protected characteristic. See Blackburn v. State, 186 Wn.2d 250, 260, 375 P.3d 1076 (2016); see also Doe v. Dep't of Transp., 85 Wn. App. 143, 150, 931 P.2d 196 (1997) ("The burden is on the plaintiff to produce competent evidence that supports a reasonable inference that his [membership in a protected class] was the motivating factor for the harassing conduct.").

In response to the City's summary judgment motion, Romulo failed to identify any evidence that the City engaged in any misconduct, let alone that such misconduct was motivated by Romulo's race or national origin. As Romulo admitted, his supervisors never said anything to him regarding these protected characteristics. Instead, Romulo relied on his own subjective interpretation of how routine and innocuous management communications made him "feel," without providing any evidence of inappropriate actions, much less any discriminatory animus. See, e.g., CP 1041-43 (showing Romulo's litany of alleged harassment is dominated by phrases like "[he] feels oppressed," "you make me feel dumb," "this . . . made [Romulo] feel as though . . . "). As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, Romulo "present[ed] no evidence of

discrimination based on his membership in a protected class."³ *Romulo*, 2022 WL 17246817, at *16.

Moreover, even if Romulo had identified colorable evidence of any alleged harassment motivated by a protected characteristic (he did not), he failed to establish that any such conduct affected the terms or conditions of his employment. As this Court has noted, to affect the terms and conditions of employment, harassment must be "sufficiently pervasive so as to . . . create an abusive working environment." *Glasgow v. Georgia-Pacific Corp.*, 103 Wn.2d 401, 406-07, 693 P.2d 708 (1985). Courts consider "the frequency and severity of the discriminatory conduct; whether it is physically threatening or humiliating, or a mere offensive utterance; and whether it

_

³ Romulo claims that "the acts that support [his] retaliation claim . . . may also be used to support his hostile work environment claim." Petition at 23. Yet Romulo fails to identify with any specificity the additional "acts" that he believes support his hostile work environment claim. Such vague and unsupported allegations provide no basis for review.

unreasonably interferes with the employee's work performance." *Washington v. Boeing Co.*, 105 Wn. App. 1, 10, 19 P.3d 1041 (2000).

Romulo fails to identify any conduct that could be remotely described as severe or pervasive. For instance, Romulo's claim that his manager "refused to allow [Romulo] to attend a full day event" amounts to him only being approved to attend two hours of a four hour event. CP 610, 820. Such an allegation is hardly an example of an "abusive" work environment.

C. The Trial Court's Proper Instructions on Romulo's Wrongful Discharge Claim do not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

"Jury instructions are sufficient if they allow the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not mislead the jury and, when taken as a whole, properly inform the jury of the law to be applied." *Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co.*, 127 Wn.2d 67, 92, 896 P.2d 682 (1995). Whether to give a particular jury instruction is within the court's discretion. *Boeing Co. v. Key*,

101 Wn. App. 629, 632, 5 P.3d 16 (2000). "The trial court is given considerable discretion in deciding how the instructions will be worded." *Goodman v. Boeing Co.*, 75 Wn. App. 60, 73, 877 P.2d 703 (1994).

In his cursory request for this Court to review the trial court's instructions on his wrongful discharge claim, Romulo fails to cite even a single source of authority. On this basis alone, this Court should deny review. *See State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 868-69, 83 P.3d 970 (2004) ("[T]his court will not review issues for which inadequate argument has been briefed or only passing treatment has been made.").

In any event, Romulo's claim that there was no "clear expression of public policy on the safety of the public water system" is absurd. The trial court twice instructed the jury that there were "public policies concerning the safety of the public water system." RP 395:11-22, 1892:7-21. Moreover, the parties did not dispute the existence of a policy here. Indeed, City witnesses testified throughout trial regarding public safety

concerns associated with cross-connection control, and the exhibits submitted to the jury included copies of the Department of Health's rules relating to cross-connection control. *See, e.g.*, RP 1718:14-22, 1765:16-1766:2; Ex. 173.

In addition, Romulo fails to identify any error associated with the trial court's refusal to instruct the jury on additional public policies that purportedly supported his wrongful discharge claim. Initially, at the outset of trial, the court gave to the jury as Instruction No. 2, the <u>exact instruction</u> proposed by Romulo regarding the "only claims" at issue in the trial:

[Plaintiff] is asserting the following <u>two claims</u> on which you will receive separate instructions:

- (1) [Plaintiff] alleges that the City wrongfully discharged his employment in violation of public policies concerning the safety of the public water system, and;
- (2) [Plaintiff] alleges that the City retaliated against him for having filed and settled a prior lawsuit alleging violations of the Washington Law Against Discrimination.

These are the <u>only claims</u> that you will be asked to decide at the end of this trial. You will not be asked to decide any claims of discrimination or hostile work environment based on [Plaintiff's] race, national origin or ethnicity.

RP 336:4-22, 395:11-22 (emphasis added); Dkt. 155. Despite the trial court's assurance, at Romulo's request, that these would be the "only claims" the jury would be asked to decide, Romulo nevertheless sought to expand the bases for his claim at the close of trial. CP 2098, 2006, 2056. The trial court correctly declined to provide Romulo's contradictory, confusing instructions.

Furthermore, as the Court of Appeals noted with regard to Romulo's claim that the trial court erred in not including in the wrongful discharge instruction a reference to a purported public policy against the waste of public funds, the statutes upon which Romulo relied in his argument in support of such a public policy expressly exclude "personnel actions" from the definition of "improper governmental action." RCW 42.41.020(1)(b). Romulo being placed on paid administrative

leave was a personnel action. The decision to do so therefore cannot form the basis of a whistleblower retaliation claim, and Romulo cannot have been prejudiced by the trial court's decision not to give his requested instruction. *Romulo*, 2022 WL 17246817, at *15.

With regard to his request that the trial court identify the WLAD as a policy supporting his wrongful discharge claim, the trial court instructed the jury on public policies associated with the WLAD via Romulo's WLAD retaliation claim. The jury unanimously rejected Romulo's claim that his termination violated the WLAD. Romulo does not and cannot explain how a jury that rejected his WLAD retaliation claim could have come to a different determination as to a claim that Romulo was terminated, in violation of public policy, for opposing practices forbidden by the WLAD.

D. The Dismissal of Romulo's SMC Claim Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The Local Government Whistleblower Protection Act
("LGWPA") exempts local governments from its provisions if

they adopt "a program for reporting alleged improper governmental actions and adjudicating retaliation from such reporting," and "the program meets the intent of [the LGWPA]." RCW 42.41.050. The LGWPA allows local government employees to pursue administrative relief, but does not provide a private cause of action to pursue whistleblower retaliation claims. *See* RCW 42.41.040; *Woodbury v. City of Seattle*, 172 Wn. App. 747, 752, 292 P.3d 134 (2013) ("[R]ead as a whole, it is clear that the [LGWPA] does not grant local government employees a cause of action in superior court.").

In specified circumstances, the City of Seattle's Whistleblower Protection Code ("WPC") allows City employees who submit a whistleblower retaliation complaint to pursue a private cause of action. *See* SMC 4.20.870. Complainants may only do so after filing a "timely and sufficient complaint with the [Seattle Ethics and Elections Commission Executive Director]." *Id.* To be "sufficient," a complaint must assert facts that, if true, would show:

- a. The employee is a cooperating employee;
- b. The employee was subjected to an adverse change that occurred within six months of becoming a cooperating employee; and
- c. The employee's protected conduct reasonably appears to have been a contributing factor to the adverse change to their employment.

SMC 4.20.860(B)(3).

If the Seattle Ethics and Elections Committee ("SEEC") Executive Director determines that a complaint is insufficient, the complaint is dismissed without further investigation. SMC 4.20.860(B)(2). The employee may, however, re-submit the complaint within the 180-day filing period with further information supporting the claim. *Id.* The WPC provides that nothing contained therein "prohibits an employee from filing in any administrative forum or affects the remedies available in that forum." SMC 4.20.865(A)(1). Under the LGWPA, local government employees who submit a whistleblower retaliation complaint to their employer are permitted to obtain an administrative hearing. RCW 42.41.040(4).

In August 2019, Romulo filed an SMC whistleblower retaliation complaint with the SEEC Executive Director. CP 253. In September 2019, the Executive Director notified Romulo that his complaint was insufficient. CP 285-87, 289-291, 307-308. Romulo subsequently asserted a claim for whistleblower retaliation under the SMC in the trial court. CP 158-59.

In the trial court, as he does here, Romulo made extensive claims regarding the alleged infirmities with the WPC. Yet as the Court of Appeals noted, Romulo did not plead any claim for relief from, or review of, the Executive Director's insufficiency determination, much less prove that it was erroneous or arbitrary. He simply pled a claim for whistleblower retaliation under the SMC. The SMC, however, does not authorize private lawsuits where, as here, the Executive Director finds that the underlying complaint is insufficient. *See* SMC 4.20.870. Romulo simply did not state a claim for relief under the terms of the SMC. His claim was

therefore properly dismissed.

E. The Trial Court Did Not Require Romulo to Reveal Work Product.

Romulo claims, again without authority, that it was an abuse of the trial court's discretion to require the exchange of materials that each party intended to show the jury, claiming that the trial court required him to reveal protected work product. Romulo fails to and cannot explain, however, how the final PowerPoint slides that he intended to show *to the jury* constituted work product.

As stated by the Court of Appeals: "[Romulo] offers no authority for the proposition that a trial court cannot, once trial has begun and as part of the court's discretion to manage the courtroom and trial, require the exchange of materials that each party intends to show the jury." *Romulo*, 2022 WL 17246817, at *43; *see also State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 855, 822 P.2d 177, 193 (1991), *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Schierman*, 192 Wn.2d 577, 438 P.3d 1063 (2018) ("[T]he trial court is given wide latitude in determining whether or not to

admit demonstrative evidence.").

Romulo baselessly claims that the requirement that both sides exchange closing slides was "one more example showing that Judge Parisien did whatever she could to help the City and hurt Mr. Romulo." Petition at 32. Theatrics aside, Judge Parisien's reasonable trial management requirement applied equally to the City, which simply elected not to use PowerPoint slides in its closing.⁴

The trial court reasonably required the parties to disclose materials they intended to show the jury, not protected work product. This decision promoted trial efficiency by ensuring that objectionable materials were not shown to jurors and reducing the risk that counsel might be compelled to make objections during their opponent's presentation. No review is warranted here.

⁴ Romulo is correct that the City was not required to disclose its closing notes. But neither was Romulo.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the City respectfully requests this Court deny review.